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Ri chMark Capital Corporation ("R chMark"™ or "the firnl), a
regi stered broker-dealer, and Doyle Mark Wiite, who during the
rel evant period was R chMark's vice president, secretary, and
treasurer, aﬁpeal froman adm nistrative IaM/Ludge's intial
decision. The law judge found that, during the period July
t hrough Septenber 17, 1998, Respondents violated Section 17(a)(1)
of the Securities Act 1/ and Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act 2/ and Rule 10b-5 3/ by failing to disclose that
they were selling their owm shares of PCC G oup, Inc. ("PCCG') at
the sane tinme they were recomending that their custoners buy the
stock. The | aw judge further found that Respondents viol ated
Sections 17(a)(2) 4/ and 17(a)(3) 5/ of the Securities Act by
negligently failing to disclose in or with a PCCG corporate
profile that R chMark distributed to its custoners RichMark's
I nvest ment banki ng agreement with PCCG and the firm s financi al
i ncentive thereunder to reconmend PCCG stock. 6/

The | aw judge suspended for a period of 90 days RichMark's
br oker-deal er registration and Wi te fromassociation with any
broker or dealer. 1In addition, he assessed civil noney ﬁenalties
of $275, 000 agai nst Ri chMark and $55, 000 agai nst Wiite, held
Ri chMark and White jointly and severally liable for the
di sgorgenent of $25,617.86 plus prejudgnent interest, and inposed
a cease-and-desi st order on Respondents. W base our findings on

1/ 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1).

2/ 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).

3/ 17 C.F. R § 240. 10b-5.

4/ 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2).

5/ 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(3).

6/ Al t hough the order instituting these proceedi ngs made

broader charges of deficient disclosure, the |aw judge based
his findings of violation in this respect on Respondents
failure to make adequate disclosure in or with the PCCG
corporate profile. The Division of Enforcenent did not
appeal that determ nation.
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an i ndependent review of the record except with respect to those
findi ngs not chall enged on appeal. 7/

In 1998, RichMark, with corporate headquarters in Texas, was
a whol I y-owned subsidiary of RMC Holdings, Inc. ("RMC'). \Wite
and Richard Monello, RichMark's president, each owned 50% of RMC.
During the relevant period, R chMark's flagship branch office,
| ocated in La Jolla, California, accounted for about 50% of the
firms retail brokerage business. Mnello was in charge of the
La Jolla office, while Wite Presided over the firms
headquarters in Texas. Monello was in frequent contact with
White, and solicited his input on all mmjor decisions.
Ri chMark's trades were sent fromthe La Jolla office to Texas for
VWiite' s review before being forwarded to First Sout hwest Conpany
("FSW), RichMark's clearing firm for execution.

On March 10, 1998, Ri chMark and PCCG a whol esal e
di stributor of mcroconmputer products, entered into a one-year
agreenent (the "IBA"), term nable by either party on 30 days'
witten notice, Bursuant to which R chMark agreed to Erovide PCCG
wi th investnent banking services. The |IBA provided that Ri chMark
woul d, anong ot her things, assist and advise PCCGin (a) general
strategi c planning and corporate finance, (b) making acqui si -
tions, (c) positioning PCCGin the financial comunity, and
(d) introducing and fostering PCCG s relations wi th broker-
deal ers. As conpensation under the |IBA, RichMark received a
nonthly retainer of $5,000 plus reinbursenent of expenses, and
25,000 shares of unrestricted PCCG commpn stock. It also
received options to purchase additional unrestricted stock as
follows: (a) 25,000 shares at $2.50 and 75,000 shares at $2.75
upon execution of the agreenment, (b) 50,000 shares at $5.00 when
PCCG s compn stock traded at $5.50 per share for 10 consecutive
tradi ng days in which daily trading volunme exceeded 7,000 shares,
and (c) options to purchase additional shares based on the
achi evenent of certain goals. 8/

7/ Rul e 451(d) of the Comm ssion's Rules of Practice permts a
menber of the Conm ssion who was not present at oral
argunent to participate in the decision of that proceeding
if that nmenber has reviewed the transcript of that argunent
prior to such participation. Here, the required review has
been made.

8/ Ri chvark was given the option to buy 50,000 PCCG shares at
$3.50 upon the funding of a secured line of credit or other
financing facility, and the option to purchase 100, 000
shares at $4.50 when PCCG stock was listed on the
Phi | adel phi a or anot her exchange. These goals were never

(continued. . .)
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At the tinme the I BA was signed, the closing bid for PCCG
stock on the over-the-counter market was 2 7/8. Prior to that
time, the stock had been very thinly traded. For the entire
nmont h of January 1998, the stock had traded on only two days and,
in February, on only three days.

Pursuant to the IBA, RichMark assisted PCCG in retaining
Cof fin Conmuni cations Goup as its investor relations firm At
Ri chMark's suggestion, Coffin prepared a PCCG corporate profile
for use in marketing PCCG to the public. The profile, which
contained a section entitled "lInvestnent Considerations” listing
positive PCCG highlights and the conpany's future plans, was
I ntended to show "why PCC Group m ght represent a conpelling
investment."” Monello reviewed the profile before it was
finalized, and Wiite also reviewed 1t at or near the sane tine.
Wiite then arranged for copies of the profile to be sent to the
La Jolla office, and also for FSWto mail copies to all of
Ri chMark's custonmers with their June statenents, which FSW sent
out in early July. The profile did not nmention the I|BA

| medi ately after the signing of the I BA, R chMark enbarked
on a major canpaign to sell PCCG stock. Mnello exerted strong
pressure on Ri chMark supervisors and sal espersons, conducting
al nost daily sales neetings at which he urged themto sell nore
PCCG shares. Sal espersons were encouraged to "cold call”
prospects, and to nmail the PCCG corporate profile to custoners
and prospective custoners. Monello predicted that the price of
PCCG stock would rise into the teens, and offered sal espersons
extra conpensation for selling it. As one salesman put it, al
Monel l o wanted sold was PCCG. |If a sal esperson brought Mnello a
custoner order for another stock, he would ask why the custoner
wasn't buying PCCG instead or, at |east, buying PCCG in addition
to the stock being purchased.

At the sane tinme, Monello and Wiite strongly di scouraged and
i npeded custonmer sales of PCCG Monello admitted that, on "a
few' occasions, he nmay have told sal esnmen with PCCG sell orders
that they had to find a buyer before the stock could be sold.
One sal esman testified that, when he faxed PCCG sell orders to
VWiite, "there [would] always be a struggle to sell the stock."
VWhite would call himand ask, "Do you have to sell the stock?
Can you find a buyer for the stock?", and tell himthat the
mar ket couldn't handle the sale. Oher salesnmen confirnmed that
Monel | o di scouraged customer sales of PCCG A La Jolla branch
manager stated that, when he questioned Wiite as to why customer
sell orders hadn't been executed, Wiite would reply that the
mar ket just wasn't |iquid enough.

Bet ween March 10, 1998, when the I BA was signed, and
April 16, the price of PCCG rose from2 7/8 to 7 due in no snal

8/ (...continued)
achi eved.
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neasure to RichMark's successful sales efforts. On April 15,

Ri chMark received the 25,6000 shares of PCCG that were due under
the I BA and, on or about August 13, exercised its option to

pur chase an additional 25,000 shares at $2.50. FromJuly 9 to
August 13, 1998, Wiite and Monell o sold 24,200 shares of PCCG at
prices ranging from$5.50 to $6.25 for a total of $144,498. 9/
From Septenber 14 to 17, they sold an additional 10,300 shares
for a total of $40,412. Although Wite was telling sal espersons
that the market was too illiquid to permt custoners to sel
their stock, Monello testified that he could not recall any
probl em when it cane to selling RichMark's shares. The |aw judge
refused to credit Respondents' explanation that they needed to
sell these shares to pay bills. W agree with that assessnent.

When a securities deal er recormends stock to a custoner, it
is not only obligated to avoid affirmati ve m sstatenents, but
al so nust disclose material adverse facts of which it is aware.
That i ncludes disclosure of "adverse interests" such as "econom c
self interest" that could have influenced its recomendation. 10/
It is clear that Respondents had a strong economc notive to
pronmote the sale of PCCG stock. By increasing the stock's market
price, the% enhanced the value of RichMark's shares. |In order to
maxi m ze the val ue of those shares, they conceal ed the fact that
they were selling their own shares of PCCG and di scouraged and
i npeded custoner efforts to sell the stock

By recomrendi ng the purchase of PCCG stock w thout
di sclosing their own concurrent sales, Respondents omtted
material information, an om ssion that prevented custoners from
maki ng an i nforned i nvest ment deci sion. Respondents had a clear
obligation to disclose to investors that, in furtherance of their
own self-interest, they were taking action contrary to their
recommendation of PCCG  No such discl osure was nade.

Respondents do not contend that they had no obligation to
di sclose their sales of PCCG Instead, they insist that they
made appropriate disclosure. They point to the back of the
confirmations that FSWsent to R chMark custoners which, anong
ot her things, stated as follows:

9/ The sal es were effected through an RMC account opened at
FSW

10/ See Chasins v. Smith Barney & Co., Inc., 438 F.2d 1167, 1172
(2d Cir. 1970) ("The investor . . . nust be permtted to
eval uate overl apping notivations through appropriate
di scl osures, especially where one notivation is economc
self-interest"). See also Glbert A Zwetsch, 50 S. E. C
816, 818-819 (1991); Paulson Investnent Conpany, Inc., 47
S.E.C. 886, 888 (1983).
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First Southwest Conpany, its representatives, officers
or directors may fromtinme to tinme have a long or short
position and buy or sell securities of this conpany.

Respondents claimthat this statenent constituted adequate
di scl osure to investors of RichMark's sales of PCCG since
Ri chMark was a representative of FSW There is no basis for this
claim FSWs vice president of clearing services and its
conpliance director both testified unequivocally that Ri chMark
was not a representative of FSW Moreover, the Division of
Enforcenent's expert witness stated that the quoted | anguage
applied to FSW not Ri chMark, and was FSWs neans of protecting
itself by advising customers that it m ght have an adverse
interest in a transaction (which, as the clearing broker, it
woul d not have recommended). The expert further stated that, in
the securities industry, an introducing broker is not considered
to be a representative of its clearing broker unless specifically
designated as such in the clearing agreenent. R chMark's
cl earing agreenent with FSWcontal ned no such designation. 11/

We cannot accept Respondents' further claimthat any failure
to disclose their conflict of interest was at nost negligent. W
agree with the | aw judge that Respondents were at | east
reckless. 12/ W note that Richard Lundgren, who was La Jolla
branch manager until July 1998, testified that it was runored in
the office that RichMark was selling shares of PCCG and he
queﬁtioPed Wiite and Monell o about it. Both of them denied any
such sal es.

We conclude that, by failing to disclose to custoners to
whom t hey were reconmendi ng t he purchase of PCCG stock that
RichMark was selling its own shares of that stock at the sane
time, Respondents violated Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act
and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rul e 10b-5.

I V.

As noted above, the | aw judge al so found that Respondents
violated antifraud provisions by failing to disclose in or with

11/ Even assuming that RichMark were a representative of FSW

(which it was not), the disclosure on the back of custoner
confirmati ons was inadequate. \While "generic" disclosure of
this type mght be appropriate in sone circunmstances, it was
clearly inadequate in the case of a firmlike R chMark that
was conducting a sales canmpaign in a single security.

12/ The law judge twi ce stated that Respondents acted with "an
intent to deceive and defraud,"” but also stated that they
acted "recklessly.” Wile we are inclined to agree with the
initial formulation, we conclude that Respondents' conduct
was at | east reckless.
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the PCCG profile, which they distributed to investors, R chMark's
i nvest ment banki ng agreenment with PCCG and Respondents' fi nanci al
incentive thereunder to recommend PCCG stock. The |aw judge
concluded that, in light of the efforts at disclosure that
Respondent s di d make ?as descri bed below), their failure to make
adequate disclosure in this regard was nerely negligent.

A. Respondents argue that the IBA was not material. W do
not agree. A fundanmental purpose of the federal securities |aws
is to "substitute a philosophy of full disclosure for the
phi | osophy of caveat enptor and thus to achieve a high standard
of business ethics in the securities business.” 13/ |In order to
achi eve that standard, investors nust be provided with al
material facts relating to their investnment decisions. A fact is
material if there is a "substantial |ikelihood that the
di scl osure of the omtted fact woul d have been viewed by the
reasonabl e i nvestor as having significantly altered the 'total
m x' of information made available." 14/ As an econom c interest
adverse to that of investors, Respondents' strong financi al
notivation in pronoting the sale of PCCG a consequence of their
conpensation under the |IBA, was certainly material to investors
trying to nake an investnent decision. Disclosure of that
notivati on woul d have enabl ed investors to weigh the extent to
whi ch Ri chMark's recommendati on m ght have been based on the
personal econom c benefit of its principals. 15/

Respondents further assert that we need not | ook to the
thotheticaI reasonabl e i nvestor to determne materiality but
shoul d consider investor reaction in this case. Theﬁ cl ai mthat,
when investors were informed of RichMark's relationship with
PCCG they were indifferent and made no further inquiry,
denonstrating that the information in question was not material .

W cannot agree. Initially, we note that the reaction of
i ndi vidual investors is not determinative of materiality, since
the standard is objective, not subjective. 16/ |In any event, the
record does not support Respondents' claim The Division
i ntroduced the testinony of eight custonmers all of whom denied
that they were informed about the relationship between R chMark

13/ SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U. S. 180,
186 (1963).

14/ Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U S. 224, 231-232 (1988)
(quoting TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U S
438, 449 (1976).

15/ See U.S. v. Eisenberg, 773 F. Supp. 662, 723 (D.N. J. 1991).

16/ TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc., supra, 426 U S. at
445. SEC v. Hasho, 784 F. Supp. 1059, 1108 (S.D.N. Y. 1982)
(expectations of individual investors are not relevant).




8

and PCCG One customer to whom Respondents point nerely stated
on cross-exam nation that her sal esman "m ght have" nentioned the
| BA but she did not believe he did. Moreover, the custoner
testified that she certainlﬁ woul d have wanted to know about the
Ri chMar k- PCCG rel ati onshi p before she purchased PCCG in order to
deternm ne whether "soneone else's interest [might] be nore
important than [hers]." A second customer, who Respondents claim
was i nformed of the relationship, nmerely stated that he m ght
have been told about a Wall Street Journal article that nmentioned
PCCG (not Ri chMark), but he could not be sure. He testified,

nor eover, that he would have considered information about the |BA
"extrenmely inportant” because he woul d have wanted to know if his
sal esman was recomendi ng PCCG because it was a good stock or for
ot her reasons. 17/

In further support of their claimof custoner indifference
to the I BA, Respondents note that some PCCG confirmations carried
the | egend "Rl CHVARK CONSULTS FOR PCCG " They assert that the
Division's expert agreed that this statenent put custoners on
i nquiry notice about the IBA, but that no investor was noved to
inquire. In fact, the Division' s expert testified that the
| egend did not really alert custoners to the fact that there
m ght be a "conflict of interest” with respect to RichMark's
recomendation, and did not put the customer on notice that there
was any reason to question his broker.

B. Respondents contend that the | aw judge erred by ignoring
the facts that Ri chMark was conpensated for perform ng val uabl e
services under the IBA, not for distributing the corporate
profile, and that PCCG was an excellent investnent. They also
argue that the profile was not a recommendati on to purchase PCCG
noting the statenent therein that it was "issued solely for
i nformati on purposes and [was] not to be construed as an offer to
sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy." Respondents
further assert that the profile was not authored or produced by
Ri chMark, and that it specifically stated that the "opinions
expressed [therein meref those of PCC G oup, Inc. nmanagenent.”

The quality of the services that R chMark perforned under
the I BA and the value of PCCG as an investnent are not rel evant
to the issues in this case. Even assuming that R chMark's
services were val uable and that PCCG was a good i nvestnent,
Respondents were still obligated to disclose their financial
i ncentive in recommendi ng PCCG so that investors could nake an

17/ Respondents also note the testinony of a third custoner, who
testified on their behalf. This custonmer was a | ongtine
acquai ntance and client of Wite whom Wite contacted
personal ly. Wen asked if he considered hinmself "an
ordinary retail custoner of R chMark," the custoner replied
that he really didn't know. The fourth "custoner” noted by
Respondents was Wiite's | awer.
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informed judgnment. The PCCG corporate profile was an integral
part of Respondents' recomendation of that security. The profile
was the centerpiece of Respondents’' sal es canpai gn, and was
mai | ed to custoners and prospective custoners as an i nducenent to
buy PCCG stock. 18/ Moreover, contrary to their assertion,
Respondents were not excluded fromthe authorship and production
of the profile. As noted above, the profile was prepared at

Ri chMar k' s sug?estion, and White and Monello both reviewed it
before it was finalized. |f Respondents nmean to suggest that

t hey coul d not have disclosed the IBAin the profile, that was
not the case. A Coffin manager testified that he was instructed
to accept input fromRi chMark's director of investnent banking
for inclusion in the profile. 1In fact, Wite and Mnello
discgssed whet her to 1 nclude information about the IBA, but did
not do so.

C. Respondents suggest that the only rules applicable to
their conduct are Exchange Act Rule 10b-10 19/ and Section 17(b)
of the Securities Act. 20/ Rule 10b-10, the Conmi ssion's
confirmation rule, requires a broker-dealer, at or before the
conpletion of a securities transaction, to provide witten
notification to its custoner disclosing information specific to
that transaction. Section 17(b) prohibits the distribution of
any circular or other comunication which, for conpensation from
an issuer, underwiter, or dealer, describes a security wthout
full disclosure of that conpensation.

~The Prelininarx_hbte to Rule 10b-10 states that "[t]he
requi rement under this section that particular information be
di scl osed is not determ native of a broker-dealer's obligation

under the general antifraud provisions . . . to disclose
additional information to a custoner at the tine of the
custoner's investnent decision.”™ Courts have al so recogni zed

that Rule 10b-10 is not a shield fromliability under the general

18/ In support of their claimthat the profile was not a
recommendat i on, Respondents cite certain Comr ssion rel eases
dealing with suitability requirenents. However, those
rel eases are inapposite and do not support Respondents
contention. Respondents' distribution of the PCCG corporate
profile was not sinply the general mailing of a research
report that, viewed in isolation, mght not in and of itself
constitute a recomendation. Instead, the profile was part
and parcel of Respondents' PCCG sal es canpai gn.

~

17 C.F.R § 240. 10b- 10.

S lo
-

15 U.S.C. § 77q(b).
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antifraud provisions. 21/ Simlarly, Section 17(b) does not
shiel d Respondents fromliability under those provisions for
conduct that is not covered by its ternms, including the conduct
at issue here.

D. Respondents claimthat in various ways they nmade
appropriate disclosure of the IBA to custonmers, as follows.

1. Respondents assert that they instructed sal espersons to
make point-of-sale disclosure to investors about the investnent
banki ng rel ati onship. However, the |law judge did not credit the
testimony of White and Monell o that theY gave such instructions,
and the record fully supports that conclusion. Two La Jolla
branch nmanagers and three of the office's salesnen testified that
they were never instructed to disclose the PCCG Ri chMark
relationship to custoners. Respondents point to a fourth
sal esman, Andrew Yaros, who testified that he was so instructed.
However, as Respondents thenselves note, the instruction cane
from branch nmanager Lundgren who considered the relationship a
sel ling point.

Monel | o asked Chad Wi gand, who becane La Jolla branch
manager in July 1998, to create a "pitch sheet” for PCCG t hat
sal espersons could use in recomending the stock to clients and
prospective clients. Wigand prepared such a sheet, which did
not nention the IBA and showed it to Mnnello. Mnello nmade no
changes in the sales pitch. Even nore significantly, at sone
poi nt in August or Septenber, Mnello "pulled" Wigand into his
office and stated, "the SEC s [angry] at us . . . because [the
profile] was sent out with the [custonmer] statenents . . . . W
probably ought to start telling clients that we have an
I nvest ment banking relationship with [ PCCG."

Sal espersons were generally aware that R chMark was PCCG s
i nvest ment banker, but were not provided wth any details of the
rel ati onship. Wile sone of themstated that they nentioned the
relationship to clients, its disclosure was hardly a uniform
practice as evidenced by the custonmer testinony adduced by the
Di vision. Mreover, custoners had no inkling of Respondents
strong financial incentive to pronote the sale of PCCG resulting
fromthe stock and options they received under the |BA

2. Respondents note that, in April 1998, Coffin issued a
press rel ease announcing the I BA (which gave no details of the
agreenent) and that, as a result, the IBA received one-sentence
mentions I1n a Wall Street Journal article and a Dow Jones Online
News report dealing with NASDAQ stocks and the small -cap

21/ Ettinger v. Merrill Lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 835
F.2d 1031, 1036 (3d Cr. 1987); Krone v. Merrill Lynch &
Co., Inc., 637 F. Supp. 910, 916 (S.D.N. Y. 1986).
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market. 22/ At the sane tine, R chMark sent a letter to PCCG
shar ehol ders announcing the I1BA. 23/ W agree with the |aw judge
that the press release and the brief nentions of the IBA in md-
April media reports were not Bart of the "total m x" of
information reasonably available to R chMark's PCCG custoners
during the rel evant Jul y- Septenber period. 24/ Nor was
RichMark's letter to PCCG shareholders. The Division's custoner
Wi t nesses never saw the press rel ease, never read the news
articles, and were never furnished with copies of the articles.
In any event, none of these itenms provi ded adequate disclosure of
Respondents' financial incentive to sell PCCG stock.

3. On June 24, 1998, PCCG filed a Form S-3 registration
statement with this Conm ssion covering the stock and options
given to RichMark under the I1BA. Both the IBA and RichMark's
conpensati on thereunder were described in that docunent.
Respondents cite the registration statenment as further evidence
that the I BA was disclosed to investors, noting that it was "a
public docunent." However, neither RichMark's sal espersons nor
Its custoners were informed of the registration statenent's
exi stence, much | ess furnished with copies. Under the
ci rcunstances, including the fact that R chMark was recomendi ng
securities in which it had an econom c interest adverse to its
custoners, the filing of this docunent with the Conm ssion did
not place it in the "total m x" of information reasonably
avai l able to PCCG i nvestors. 25/ Wen a securities reconmenda-

22/ According to Respondents, the IBA was also nentioned in a
tel evised CNBC story on PCCG The record contains no
details concerning this story.

23/ We do not credit the claimof Wiite and Mnello that the
letter was also sent to all R chMark clients. The letter
was addressed to "Dear Shareholder,"” and the invoice from
Ri chMark to PCCG seeking rei mbursenment for RichMark's outl ay
describes the itemin question as a "2000 piece mail-out to
shar ehol ders. "

24/ See United Paperworkers International Union v. International
Paper Conpany ("United Paperworkers"), 985 F.2d 1190, 1199
(2d Cir. 1993) ("[T]he nmere presence in the nmedia of
sporadi ¢ news reports” does not make thempart of the "total
m x" of available information). See also Fisher v. The
Pl essey Conpany, Ltd., 559 F. Supp. 442, 446 (S.D.N. Y. 1983)
("OF paranpbunt inportance . . . is the direct availability
to the investors of the information in question.").

25/ See United Paperworkers, supra (Merely filing a docunent
with a regul atory agency does not place the docunent in the
(conti nued. . .)
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tion is nade to a custonmer, it is necessary that full disclosure
be made of all material facts. A broker may not satisfy that
obligation by pointing to bits and pieces of information that
appeared in the nedia or el sewhere and were never brought to the
custoner's attention. 26/

4. As additional evidence of their disclosure, Respondents
point to the above-noted | egend, "Rl CHVARK CONSULTS FOR PCCG "
whi ch, on advice of counsel, Respondents arranged to have FSW
pl ace on the confirmations of custoners mho purchased PCCG. 27/
Fbmever as Respondents concede, due to "m stakes" the | egend

Feared on only about half of PCCG confirmati ons during the

evant period. In undertaking to place this "trailer™ on
conflrnatlons FSWnotified RichMark that it was R chMark's
responS|b|I|ty to review confirmations "to nake sure the trailer
[was] printed on them" \Wiite admtted that, "early on in the
gane," he discovered that the trailer wasn't being placed on
every PCCG confirmation. However, he did nothing to cancel and
rei ssue deficient confirmati ons because he felt that "there was
enough public disclosure out there."

W agree with the law judge that the trailer gave no
meani ngf ul i nformati on about the Ri chiark-PCCG rel ati onship and
di scl osed not hi ng about Ri chMark's financial incentive to sel
PCCG stock. One RichMark custoner stated that she didn't recal
seeing the trailer on her confirmations but, in any event,
woul dn't have known what it neant. A second custoner also stated
that he hadn't noticed the trailer but that, if he had, he would
not have understood what it had to do with his investnent.

W conclude that the IBA and the terns of Respondents’
conpensati on thereunder should have been disclosed in or with the
corporate profile that was sent to RichMark custonmers. That
information was clearly material. Wthout its disclosure,

i nvestors were prevented from wei ghing the extent to which
Ri chMark's reconmendati on of PCCG was notivated by the firms own

25/ (...continued)
"total mx" of information reasonably available to
investors. "[T]he Conpany's 10-K Report [was not] part of
t he reasonably available mx. That report was filed with
the SEC, not distributed to shareholders. Nothing in any of
t he docunents sent to sharehol ders highlighted the 10-K
Report.").

26/ See Koppel v. 4987 Corp., 167 F.3d 125, 131-132 (2d Cir
1999); Klein v. PDG Renediation, Inc., 937 F. Supp. 323,
327-328 (S.D.N. Y. 1996); Fisher v. The Plessey Co., Ltd.,
supra, 559 F. Supp. at 445-448.

N
\‘
~

When the | egend appeared on a custonmer confirmation, it also
appeared on the custoner's nonthly account statenent.
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financial interest rather than the investnment val ue of the
security. The disclosure made by Respondents was wholly

i nadequate. However, as noted above, the |aw judge concl uded

t hat Respondents' deficient disclosure in this regard was nerely
negligent and not reckless. 28/ W agree that Respondents were
at | east negligent. W accordingly conclude that they violated
Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act.

28/ The Division of Enforcenment did not appeal the |aw judge's
concl usi on.
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V.

A. Respondents point to the fact that, in various consent
orders, we have stated that, in applying the term"w llful" in
Comm ssion adm ni strative proceedi hgs, we eval uate "whet her the
respondent knew or reasonably should have known under the
particul ar facts and circunstances that his conduct was
| nproper." 29/ They argue that, under that standard, their
m sconduct was not willful. W do not agree.

As we recently pointed out, we make an objective assessnent
of a respondent's culpability. 30/ W have found that
Respondents acted at |east recklessly in failing to disclose to
custoners to whomthey were recomendi ng the purchase of PCCG
that they were selling their own shares of that stock at the sane
time. W have al so found that Respondents' disclosure of the
terns of the IBAin connection with their distribution of the
PCCG corporate profile was wholly inadequate. Under the
ci rcunst ances, we have no difficulty in concluding that, in both
t hese respects, Respondents knew or should have known that their
conduct was inproper. Thus we think it clear that their
viol ations were w || ful

B. Respondents accuse the |aw judge of bias and prejudgment
because he twice pernmtted the Division of Enforcenent to amend
its disgorgement cal culation after Respondents had poi nted out
that it contained various errors. Respondents also conplain
that, in determ ning the anmount of disgorgenent, the |aw judge
i nproperly extended the violative period beyond the tinme all eged
in the order for proceedings ("OP").

These contentions are basel ess. The |aw judge quite
properly concluded that it would be hel pful to include an
accurate calculation in the record in the event he determned to
order disgorgenent. Moreover, he ultimately made his own
di sgorgenent cal culation. The O P charged Respondents with
viol ative conduct "from approximately July 1998 through at | east
August 1998" (enphasis supplied). The |aw judge based his
di sgorgenent cal cul ation on the period July 1-Septenber 17, 1998
(a period covered by the evidence in this case), finding that the
[atter date was "within the scope of the OP." W agree that the
di sgorgenent period used by the | aw judge does not exceed the
paranmeters of the O P, which describes an approxi mate period of
viol ati ve conduct.

29/ See, e.q., Legg Mason Wod Wl ker, |ncorporated, Exchange
Act Rel. No. 44407 (June 11, 2001), 75 SEC Docket 537, 539
n. 3.

30/ Feeley & WIIlcox Asset Managenent Corp., Securities Act Rel.

No. 8249 (July 10, 2003), 80 SEC Docket 2075.
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V.

Respondents argue that the sanctions inposed by the |aw
j udge are unduly harsh. They assert, anong other things, that
Ri chMark did not operate a "boiler room or engage in
unaut hori zed tradi ng or a mani pul ation, that White has never
previ ously been involved in a disciplinary proceedi ng, that
Ri chMark has taken steps to ensure that the sane conduct does not
recur, that they relied on advice of counsel, and that there was
nei ther intentional nor reckless msconduct in this case.

In determ ning appropriate sanctions, we do not consider it
mtigative that Respondents did not engage in m sconduct that was
arguably nore serious. Qur concern is wth the m sconduct at
issue. Here, that m sconduct was Respondents' egregious failure
to disclose material information to investors. As the |aw judge
stated, Respondents' "exploited the relationship of trust between
RichMark and [its] customers.” Contrary to Respondents’
assertion, we have found that, in at |east one aspect of their
m sconduct, they acted with a reckless disregard of their duty to
di scl ose. Moreover, rather than rely on counsel, they ignored
hi s advice. George Gordon, R chMark's counsel, testified that he
advi sed White that, in addition to placing a | egend on PCCG
confirmations, R chMark should be careful to advise each PCCG
custoner that the firmhad an investnent banking agreenent with
PCCG.  Respondents made no such effort.

We consider the sanctions inposed by the | aw judge fully
warranted in the public interest. Respondents' clains that
| esser sanctions have been inposed for simlar msconduct are
unavai ling. W have consistently pointed out that appropriate
sanctions depend on the particular facts and circunstances of
each case. 31/ In this instance, those facts and circunstances
clearly justify the renmedial action taken by the | aw judge.
| ndeed, we consider very |lenient the 90-day suspensions that he
i nposed. 32/

_ Respondents concede that second-tier penalties are warranted
if, as is the case here, the m sconduct at issue involves

31/ See, e.qg., John Montel bano, Exchange Act Rel ease No. 47227
(January 22, 2003), 79 SEC Docket 1474, 1497, and the
authorities there cited.

32/ W grant the Division's notion to adduce additional evidence

which reflects that, in 2002, pursuant to an NASD
settlement, RichMark was censured and fined $15, 000 based on
charges that its Bell evue, Washi ngton branch office

di ssem nated fal se and m sl eading i nformati on about the

of fice's past performance and services through certain

websi tes.
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fraud. 33/ However, they conplain that the |aw judge's

i mposition of "maxi mum' second-tier penalties is not justified.
In Iight of Respondents' serious m sconduct, we do not agree.

Mor eover, Respondents overl ook the fact that the maxi mum

penal ties may be inposed "for each [violative] act or om ssion."
Thus maxi mum penal t1 es coul d have been assessed for each failure
to make the requisite disclosure to a custoner.

Respondents argue that no public interest is served by the
i ssuance of a cease-and-desist order. They assert that the tine
el apsed since August 1999, when this proceeding was instituted,
i ndi cates that they ﬁose no threat to the investing public. They
further claimthat there is no possibility that their m sconduct
will recur. W do not agree that the stated passage of tine
obvi ates the need for a cease-and-desist order, nor are we as
sangui ne as Respondents about the |ikelihood that their
m sconduct will not recur. Although sone risk of future
violations is necessary to justify the inposition of a cease-and-
desi st order, the risk need not be great and is ordinarily
est abl i shed when a respondent is found to have violated the
law. 34/ That risk is clearly present here. Respondents remain
active in the securities business, and R chMark has continued to
seek and enter into investnent banking rel ationshi ps.

The | aw j udge ordered Respondents to disgorge their gross
conmi ssi ons on sales of PCCG stock during the rel evant period.
Respondents contend that the comm ssions theK pai d sal espersons
shoul d be deducted fromthat amount, since they would ot herw se
be penalized by being required to pay those amounts twi ce. W
have refused to all ow such deductions in the past, and we decline
to do so here. As we have previously stated, permtting such
deducti ons woul d confer an unwarranted benefit on
respondents. 35/

33/ Section 21B of the Exchange Act, 15 U S.C. § 78u-2.

34/ KPMG Peat Marwi ck LLP, Exchange Act Rel. No. 43862
(January 19, 2001), 74 SEC Docket 384, 429-430, aff'd, 289
F.3d 109 (D.C. Cr. 2002).

35/ L.C Waqgard & Co., Inc., 53 S.E.C. 607, 617 (1998), aff'd,
189 F. 3d 461 (2d Cr. 1999) (Table). See also SEC v. Hughes
Cap. Corp., 917 F. Supp. 1080, 1086, 1087 (D.N.J. 1996)
(refusing to of fset disgorgenent by "certain 'legitimte
busi ness expenses [and noting that] the overwhel m ng wei ght
of authority holds that securities |law violators nay not
of fset their disgorgement liability with business
expenses"), aff'd, 124 F.3d 449 (3d Gr. 1997); SEC v. G eat
Lakes Equities Co., 775 F. Supp. 211, 214-215 and n.22 (E. D
M ch. 1991) (declining to reduce disgorgenment anount by

(conti nued. . .)
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As Respondents point out, it appears fromthe record that
the Division agreed that Respondents shoul d not be charged
prej udgnent interest for thengeriod (from approximately the end
of April to the end of Septenber 2000) during which the Division
was granted an adj ournnent of the proceedings due to a nedi cal
energency in the famly of Division trial counsel. That
adjustnment wll accordingly be granted. 36/

An appropriate order will issue. 37/
By the Conmmi ssion (Chai rman DONALDSON and Conmi ssioners

GLASSMAN, ATKINS and CAMPQCS); Conm ssioner GOLDSCHM D not
partici pating.

Jonat han G Katz
Secretary

w

5/ (...continued)

"over head, commi ssions and ot her expenses"), aff'd w thout
opinion, 12 F. 3d 214 (6th Gr. 1993); SEC v. Wrld Ganbling
Corp., 555 F. Supp. 930, 935 (S.D.N. Y. 1983) (declining to
reduce di sgorgenent anount al though it m ght have been
"slightly overstated by overhead and incone taxes"), aff'd,
742 F.2d 1440 (2d Cir. 1983) (Table).

36/ We do not deemit appropriate to make a simlar adjustnent,
as requested by Respondents, for the period of another
adj ournment that was granted because of the unavailability
of a hearing roomand the parties' desire to engage in
addi tional settlenent discussions.

w
~
iy

We have considered all of the argunents advanced by the
parties. W have rejected or accepted themto the extent
that they are inconsistent or in accord with the views
expressed herein.
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ORDER | MPOSI NG REMEDI AL SANCTI ONS

. On the basis of the Conmi ssion's opinion issued this day, it
is

ORDERED t hat the registration of R chMark Capital
Corporation as a broker and dealer be, and it hereby is,
suspended for a period of 90 days, effective at the opening of
busi ness on Novenber 24, 2003; and it is further

ORDERED t hat Doyl e Mark White be, and he hereby is,
suspended from associ ation with any broker or dealer for a period
of 90 days, effective at the opening of business on Novenber 24,
2003; and it is further

ORDERED t hat Ri chMark pay a civil noney penalty of $275, 000
and White a civil noney penalty of $55,000; and it 1s further

ORDERED t hat Ri chMark and White cease and desist from
commtting or causing any violations or future violations of
Section 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the
?ecuLities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder; and it is

urt her

ORDERED t hat Ri chMark and White jointly and severally
di sgorge $25,617.86, and paﬁ prejudgnment interest as described in
17 CF.R 8 201.600, with the adjustnment noted in the
Conmmi ssi on' s opi ni on.
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Ri chMark and White's paynments of the civil noney penalties
and joint and several disgorgenent shall be: (i) nmade by United
St ates postal noney order, certified check, bank cashier's check
or bank noney order; gii) made payable to the Securities and
Exchange Conmission; (iil) delivered by hand or courier to the
O fice of Financial Managenent, Securities and Exchange
Comm ssi on, erations Center, 6432 Ceneral G een Way, Stop 0-3,
Al exandria, Mirginia 22312 Wi t hi n thirty days of the date of this
order; and (iv) submtted under cover letter which identifies
Ri chMark and White as the respondents in Adm nistrative
Proceedi ng No. 3-9954. A copy of this cover letter and check
shall be sent to Jeffrey B. Norris, Counsel for the Division of
Enf orcenent, Securities and Exchange Comm ssion, 801 Cherry
Street, Fort Worth, Texas 76102; and it is further

ORDERED t hat, within sixty (60) days after payment of funds
or other assets in accordance with the disgorgenent required by
this Order, the Division of Enforcenent shall submt a proposed
plan for the adm nistration and distribution of disgorgenent
funds in accordance with Rule 610 of our Rules of Practice.

By the Conmi ssion.

Jonathan G Katz
Secretary



